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NOTICE OF MEETING OF OWNERS 
  
General Meeting Information 
Ottawa Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation 725 
 
Section 1. Date and Time of the Meeting 
Monday, 2019 September 23, 6:15 p.m. Registration; 6:30 p.m. Meeting 
 
Section 2. Place of the meeting 
Party Room; 205 Bolton Street 
 
Section 3. The nature of the business to be presented at the meeting is for the purpose                 
of attending to the required business as outlined in the enclosed agenda. 
 
Section 4. Please describe below the quorum needed for any part of this meeting: 
The quorum needed to hold this meeting is the owners of 31 out of 122 units in the                  
corporation. 
 
Section 5. A by-law of the corporation authorizes methods of being present at the              
meeting, in addition to attending in person or by proxy (e.g., by phone or online):  
☐ Yes ☑ No 
 
Section 6. A by-law of the corporation authorizes voting methods, in addition to voting              
by a show of hands, by ballot, by proxy (e.g., by phone or online): 
☐ Yes ☑ No 
 
Section 7. If you wish to be present at the meeting by proxy (for purposes of quorum)                 
or to vote on any matters by proxy, you must use the mandatory proxy form               
(attached). 
 
Section 8. Please check all of the following that apply to the upcoming meeting: 
☑ Section 8.A This is an annual general meeting.  
A copy of the corporation's financial statements and the auditor's report (if any) are              
included with this notice. 
 
☑ Section 8.B This is a meeting to elect one or more directors (including a meeting                
requisitioned under s. 46 of the Condominium Act, 1998 that may include the election              
of one or more directors) 
The number of positions on the board that are or could be the subject of an election at                  
the meeting, and the term or remaining term of each position, are:  
2 positions for a 3 year term each 
1 position for 2 years remaining on a term 
1 position for 1 year remaining on a term 



 
 

 
The number of positions that are or could be the subject of an election at the meeting                 
and that are reserved for voting by owners of owner-occupied units is: 1 position 
 
Total number of positions on the board is: 5 directors 
The current directors and terms are: 
Margaret VanDongen, Director, OOP, President & Secretary, 2018 September 19 - 2019  
Ross Allan, Director, 2018 September 19 - 2021  
Yvette Theriault, Director, 2018 November 14 - 2020 (Appointed until the AGM) 
Vacant, Term 2016 - 2019 
Vacant, Term, 2018 - 2021  
 
Candidates 
These are the names and addresses of each individual who has notified the board in               
writing of their intention to be a candidate by the specified deadline 

Name of Candidate Address of Candidate Position 
(select one or both if applicable) 

Yvette Theriault 205 Bolton Street ☑ Candidate for position for 
which all owners may vote 
☑ Candidate for position 
reserved for voting by owners     
of owner-occupied units 

Margaret VanDongen 
 

205 Bolton Street ☑ Candidate for position for 
which all owners may vote 
☑ Candidate for position 
reserved for voting by owners     
of owner-occupied units 

A copy of any disclosure statements and information provided by the candidates is             
included with this notice.  
Note: For information about disclosure obligations and qualifications for candidates and directors, see s. 29(1) of the                 

Condominium Act, 1998 and s. 11.6 of Ontario Regulation 48/01 under the Condominium Act, 1998, copies of which are                   

included with this notice. 

 

☑ Section 8.C This is a meeting to remove or appoint an auditor 
The name of the auditor proposed to be removed and the reasons for removal: N/A 
 
The candidates for auditor whose information was provided before the specified           
deadline are: None 
 
☐ Section 8.D This meeting was requisitioned by owners under s. 46 of the              
Condominium Act, 1998: N/A 
 
☐ Section 8.E This is a meeting for the purpose of considering an addition, alteration,               
improvement to the common elements, a change in the assets of the corporation, or a               



 
 

change in the service of the corporation, or for the purpose of considering the              
installation of an electric vehicle charging system to be carried out in accordance with              
s. 24.3 (5) of Ontario Regulation 48/01 made under the Condominium Act, 1998: N/A 
 
☑ Section 8.F This is a meeting to discuss proposed changes to the declaration and               
description, by-laws, rules or any agreements 
A copy of all proposed changes to the declaration, by-laws, rules or agreements that              
are to be discussed at the meeting are included with this notice. 
 
☐ Section 8.G This is a meeting relating to amalgamation under s. 120 of the               
Condominium Act, 1998: N/A 
 
Section 9. ☑ Additional material (including any record of the corporation) in a             
submission from owners, made by the deadline specified in the preliminary notice, is             
being included with this notice.  
The following additional material is included with this notice 

Description of material Reason for being included 

Letter from Dr. Ian Carpenter ☑ The material   
is being included   
at the board’s   
discretion 

☐ The material was submitted     
to the board using the     
Submission to Include Material    
in the Notice of Meeting of      
Owners form 

 
Section 10. ☐ A by-law of the corporation requires that additional material be             
included with this notice. N/A  
 
Section 11. ☐ Optional: Additional material that is not required by a by-law of the               
corporation is included with this notice.  N/A  

 
 

  



 
 

MEETING AGENDA 

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks; Introductions 
 
2. Certification of Quorum and Proxies (25% of 122 = 31) 
 
3. Confirmation of Notice of Meeting 
 
4. Review of Audited Financials for Year Ending 2019 March 31 
 
5. Appointment of Auditor 
 
6. Approval of Previous Annual General Meeting Minutes 
 
7. Review of the Budget Notes for Year Ending 2020 March 31 
 
8. President’s Report 
 
9. Presentation and Discussion of the new Rules 
 
10. Appointment of Scrutineers 
 
11. Elections of Board of Directors 

11.1 Election for position reserved for voting by owners of owner-occupied units 
1 position for a 3 year term 

11.2 Election for positions for which all owners may vote 
1 position for a 3 year term 
1 position for 2 years remaining on a term 
1 position for 1 year remaining on a term 

 
12. Corporation Business Discussion 

12.1 Presentation and Discussion of the Letter from Dr. Ian Carpenter 
 
13. Adjournment 
 

Your careful reading of the enclosed material prior to the meeting will help make              
discussions productive. Discussions are limited to the pertinent items on the agenda.            
Problems pertaining to individual units will not be discussed at the meeting. Unit             
specific issues should be brought to the Property Manager’s attention, prior or after             
the meeting. 
 
To ensure that we have a quorum please plan to attend and if you are not able to be                   
present at this meeting, complete the attached Proxy and return it to Capital Integral              
Property Management no later than Sunday, 2019 September 22 If it is more             
convenient, you may assign the enclosed proxy to another owner, or to one of the               



 
 

Directors in advance of the meeting. For any Director position up for election, you may               
nominate yourself or other owners. As per the Act, 1 position must be elected by               
resident owners. You may use the proxy enclosed to vote and email it to              
service725@cimanagement.ca, mail/fax it to our address/number on the left or vote at            
the meeting.  
 
We look forward to your attendance at the AGM or participation by Proxy. If you have                
any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me directly. 
  
Yours truly, 

 
Dan Fried 
Capital Integral Property Management 
Agents for and on behalf of OCSCC 725 
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To the Condominium Owners of 
Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ottawa-Carleton Standard
Condominium Corporation No. 725 (the Corporation), which comprise the statement of financial
position as at March 31, 2019, and the statements of reserve fund operations and fund balance,
operations and accumulated general fund and cash flows for the year then ended, including a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725 as at March 31, 2019,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matters
We were engaged to conduct an audit, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards, on the financial statements prepared by the Corporation's management in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. We were not engaged to,
nor do we, provide any assurance as to whether the Corporation is in compliance with all aspects
of the Condominium Act of Ontario (as proclaimed on May 5, 2001) and we were not engaged to,
nor do we, provide any assurance as to the adequacy of the reserve fund to cover future major
repairs and replacements.

2
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

3



D
ra

ft 
- S

ub
je

ct
 to

 c
ha

ng
e

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Ottawa, Ontario
DATE

4
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Statement of Financial Position

March 31

Operating
Fund

Reserve
Fund 2019 2018

Assets

Current
Cash $ 334 $ 73,607 $ 73,941 $ 145,720
Cash - Special Projects 24 - 24 3
Investments (Note 3) - 686,411 686,411 405,134
Accounts receivable 3,704 - 3,704 2,509
Prepaid expenses 1,411 - 1,411 32,186

$ 5,473 $ 760,018 $ 765,491 $ 585,552

Liabilities

Current
Accounts payable and accrued

liabilities $ 14,862 $ 8,091 $ 22,953 $ 57,737
Due to reserve fund (Due from

operating fund) 19,620 (19,620) - -

34,482 (11,529) 22,953 57,737

Contractual obligations (Note 4)

Fund balances
Operating fund (deficiency) (29,009) - (29,009) 52,070
Reserve fund (Note 2) - 771,547 771,547 475,745

(29,009) 771,547 742,538 527,815

$ 5,473 $ 760,018 $ 765,491 $ 585,552

On behalf of the board: 

  Director   Director

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Statement of Operating Fund Operations and

 Changes in Fund Balance

For the year ended March 31 Budget 2019 2018

(Unaudited)
Revenues

Condominium fees $ 873,600 $ 874,028 $ 832,000
Interest 700 1,964 1,635
Sundry 10,000 1,792 3,065

884,300 877,784 836,700

Expenses
Building maintenance and security 92,950 168,248 160,965
Garage maintenance 8,000 9,227 5,714
Gas 50,000 50,091 42,813
General and administrative 14,854 13,412 13,229
Grounds, walkways and patio 18,000 24,470 22,406
Hydro 95,000 40,947 91,048
Insurance 30,954 30,954 33,005
Management fees 66,173 65,361 39,912
Professional fees 5,000 14,945 7,065
Snow removal 16,500 15,773 16,103
Staffing 98,000 95,259 78,612
Water 70,000 71,406 66,828

565,431 600,093 577,700

Excess of revenues over expenses before
transfer 318,869 277,691 259,000

Transfer to reserve fund (Note 2) 358,770 358,770 293,770

Deficiency of revenues over expenses
$ (39,901) (81,079) (34,770)

Operating fund balance, beginning of the year 52,070 86,840

Operating fund balance (deficiency), end of
the year

$ (29,009) $ 52,070

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Statement of Reserve Fund Operations and

Changes in Fund Balance

For the year ended March 31 2019 2018

Revenues
Investment income $ 11,776 $ 7,262

Expenses
Carpet - 56,441
Consultants - 2,006
Electrical 2,141 3,085
Fire protection services 332 -
Furnishings - 2,000
Gas detection system - 5,047
HVAC 10,145 4,664
Interlock - 3,616
Intercom 8,419 -
Painting 3,842 48,003
Plumbing 3,503 -
Reserve fund study 3,503 -
Water damage - 33,267
Windows 42,859 19,052

74,744 177,181

Deficiency of revenues over expenses before transfer (62,968) (169,919)

Transfer from operating fund (Note 2) 358,770 293,770

Excess of revenues over expenses 295,802 123,851

Reserve fund balance, beginning of the year 475,745 351,894

Reserve fund balance, end of the year $ 771,547 $ 475,745

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficiency of revenues over expenses $ (81,079) $ (34,770)
Changes in non-cash working capital:

Accounts receivable (1,195) 1,094
Prepaid expenses 30,775 5,495
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (19,144) (1,298)
Due to/from reserve fund 9,879 9,741

Net decrease in cash (60,764) (19,738)

Cash, beginning of the year 61,122 80,860

Cash, end of the year $ 358 $ 61,122

The notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

1. Accounting Policies

Status and Purpose of
Organization

Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725 is a
not-for-profit organization incorporated without share capital
under the Condominium Act of Ontario on March 1, 2006.

The purpose of the Corporation is to manage and maintain the
common elements of the condominium (as detailed in the
Corporation's Declaration and By-Laws) and to provide common
services for the benefit of the owners of the 122 residential units,
139 parking units and 123 storage units of the condominium in the
city of Ottawa.

The Corporation is a non-profit organization under the Income Tax
Act and, as such, is exempt from income taxes. 

Basis of Accounting The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Fund Accounting The Corporation follows the restricted fund method of accounting
for contributions. 

The operating fund reports the contributions from owners and
expenses related to the operation and administration of the
common elements.

The reserve fund reports the contributions from owners and
expenses for major repairs and replacement costs of the common
elements. The basis for determining the reserve fund's
requirements is explained in note 2. Only major repairs and
replacements of the common elements are charged to the reserve,
with the exception of the cost of the reserve fund study which may
be charged to the reserve fund. Minor repairs and replacements
are charged to repairs and maintenance of the operating fund.

The Corporation segregates amounts accumulated for the purpose
of financing future charges to the reserve fund in special accounts.
Interest earned on these amounts is credited directly to the
reserve.

Revenue Recognition Owners assessments are recognized as revenue in the statement of
operations monthly based on the budget distributed to owners
each year. Special assessments are recognized as revenue when
they become payable by the owners to the Corporation. Interest
and other revenue are recognized as revenue of the related fund
when earned. 

Common Elements The common elements of the property are owned proportionately
by the unit owners and consequently are not reflected as assets in
these financial statements. 

9
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

1. Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Financial Instruments Initial and subsequent measurement
The Corporation initially measures its financial assets and
liabilities at fair value. The Corporation subsequently measures all
its financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost, except for
investments which it chooses to measure at fair value. Changes in
fair value are recognized in the statement of operations.

Impairment
Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for
impairment when there are indicators of impairment.

Transaction costs
Transaction costs related to financial instruments that will be
subsequently measured at fair value are recognized in the
statement of operations of the appropriate fund in the year
incurred. Transaction costs related to financial instruments
subsequently measured at amortized cost are included in the
original cost of the asset or liability and recognized in the
statement of operations of the appropriate fund over the life of
the instrument using the straight-line method.

2. Reserve for Major Repairs and Replacements

The evaluation of the adequacy of the reserve fund is based on numerous assumptions as to
future events. The directors' evaluation is that the reserve should provide sufficient funds to
finance such major repairs and replacements as may be necessary based on a comprehensive
reserve fund study by Keller Engineering dated January 10th, 2019. The Corporation's plan for
contribution to the reserve fund for 2019 was $358,770 and plan for expenses from the
reserve fund for 2019 was $60,500. The study projected a reserve fund balance on March 31,
2019 of $785,908. The actual reserve fund balance on March 31, 2019 is $771,547.

10
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

3. Investments
2019 2018

RBC investment savings account, mutual fund 107,225 -
Home Trust Company GIC, 1.70%,

matured during the year - 74,043
Home Trust Company GIC, 1.66%,                        matured

during the year - 25,490
Home Trust Company GIC, 2.86%, 
maturing February 16, 2021 94,317 -
Home Equity Bank GIC, 2.70%, maturing March 8, 2022 86,134 -
Equitable Bank GIC, 2.21%, maturing November 22, 2019 50,465 49,380
Equitable Bank GIC, 1.78%, maturing January 24, 2020 48,874 48,022
General Bank of Canada GIC, 2.42%, 
maturing March 9, 2020 86,120 -
Canadian Western Bank GIC, 2.45%, 
     maturing November 22, 2020 58,738 57,338
LBC Trust GIC, 2.45%, maturing January 11, 2021 59,275 57,864
Laurentian Bank GIC, 2.45%, maturing January 11, 2021 95,264 92,997

$ 686,412 $ 405,134

4. Contractual Obligations

The Corporation has entered into contracts for snow removal services ending April 15, 2019,
for management services ending March 31, 2021, for HVAC services ending April 30, 2020 and
for elevator maintenance services ending December 31, 2027. Minimum payments under the
contracts, including HST, are as follows:

Snow Elevator Management HVAC Total

2020 $ 2,335 $ 15,784 $ 66,173 $ 11,700 $ 95,992
2021 - 15,784 66,173 - 81,957
2022 - 15,784 - - 15,784
2023 - 15,784 - - 15,784
2024 - 15,784 - - 15,784
Subsequent - 59,189 - - 59,189

$ 2,335 $ 138,109 $ 132,346 $ 11,700 $ 284,490

11
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Ottawa-Carleton Standard Condominium Corporation No. 725
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

5. Budget Information

The budget figures presented for comparison purposes are unaudited and are those approved
by the Board of Directors. 

6. Remuneration of Directors and Officers

No remuneration was paid to Directors or Officers during the year.
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OTTAWA-CARLETON STANDARD CONDOMINIUM CORPORATION NO. 725 
Minutes of the Annual General Meeting 

Held on September 19, 2018 
Party Room, 205 Bolton Street, Ottawa 

 
 
PRESENT:  
 
Board of Directors 
 
Diana Zahab 
Paul O’Connor 
Tranna Homenick  
 
Others 
 
Nancy Houle Legal Counsel, Davidson, Houle Allen LLP 
Neil Scilley Auditor, BDO Canada 
Michael Barnett Property Manager, Capital Integral Property Management 
Dina Salvador Recording Secretary 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND OPENING REMARKS: INTRODUCTIONS 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:03 p.m. by Nancy Houle. 
Nancy Houle, legal counsel, stated that with consent of the owners present, she would be serving                
as Chair of the proceedings. Moved by Robert Frogley (230) that Nancy Houle be appointed as                
Chair of the Annual General Meeting. Seconded by Helene Filion (107). All in favour. Motion               
carried.  
The Chair introduced the head table. 
 
 
2. CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM AND PROXIES 
 
The Chair confirmed that quorum requirements were met as 54 owners were represented; 43 in 
person and 11 by proxy. 
 
 
3.        CONFIRMATION OF NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
The Chair confirmed that the Notice of Meeting was mailed to owners on September 4, 2018 
thereby meeting the requirement that the Notice be sent 15 days prior to the AGM. 
 



Francois Leblanc (232) expressed a concern that the Audited Financial Statements were not part 
of the Notice of Meeting.  Nancy Houle asked if any of the owners that were present would like 
to adjourn Item No. 4 being the Review of Audited Financial Statements. It was noted that no 
owners were in favour of adjourning this portion of the meeting. 
 
 
4.        REVIEW OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR YEAR ENDING 2018  
           MARCH 31 
 
The auditor provided a review of the Audited Financial Statements. The auditor reviewed and 
explained the Statement of Operating Fund, Statement of Reserve Fund, Statement of Cash Flow, 
and Notes to the Financial Statements.  
Francois Leblanc (232) stated that he contacted the Condo Authority of Ontario who suggested 
that they ask the auditor why the Audited Financial Statements were not ready to be attached to 
the Notice of Meeting. The auditor explained that when the date for the AGM was brought up, 
they made it clear that given that there was a turnover from the previous property manager, there 
could be delays in getting access to information, thereby making the AGM date an ambitious 
date for them to complete their Report.  It was agreed by the Property Manager and the Board of 
Directors that the AGM date was the date that was preferred. They then committed their best to 
deliver the statements at the earliest possible date on the clear understanding that they could not 
take shortcuts in their work and fulfill their duties to conduct a proper audit. Mr. Leblanc asked 
that since the Audited Financial Statement were not signed by the Board Members, does it mean 
that the Board did not see the figures before the meeting.  The auditor confirmed that the Audited 
Financial Statements do not get released in final form until they have been reviewed and 
approved by the Board of Directors. Whether the Board Members did not affix their signatures to 
the Audited Financial Statements, is out of their hands.  Nancy Houle clarified that no one asked 
the auditors to make shortcuts and that it is not uncommon that Financial Statements get released 
to the Corporation without the Board’s signature. By the time that the auditor receives the 
Financial Statements, they have been approved by the Board. It was confirmed that the Financial 
Statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board. 
Ron Allen (103) asked if the bottom line was that this should not happen again because the 
property management firm has more than one year. The auditor agreed that this should not 
happen again. 
In response to Francois Leblanc’s question (232) with respect to clarification on Page 4 of the 
Financial Statements, the auditor explained that the operating fund owes $9,741.00 to the 
Reserve Fund.  
The auditor noted that the 2018 operating budget was $10,000.00 below budget. Mr. Leblanc 
(232) asked for an explanation of the 4 items that were more than a 15% difference between the 
budget and the actuals. The auditor responded that only the Board is authorized to ask the auditor 
to prepare anything other than the Financial Statements and that he is not in any position to be 
able to explain transactions. The property manager agreed to explain these differences to the 
owners in a later report. 



In response to Ron Allen’s question (103), the auditor clarified that the end result is that the 
operating budget was $10,000.00 below budget.  
Barbara Elkin (429) asked what Reserve Fund expenses that were projected were not made as 
there was a difference of approximately $144,000.00 in the actual expenses. The auditor 
explained that the operating budget is usually run very close and that the Reserve Fund projects 
can be off by a year or a number of years.  
 
Barbara Elkin (429) also noted that she would have expected that the difference between the 
projected balance in the Reserve Fund and the actual balance to be the same amount. The auditor 
explained that the difference is that when you are comparing actual expenses from the Study vs. 
the actual results for the year, you are looking at one year, but the report deals with 3 fiscal year 
ends. 
 
Barbara Elkin (429) also asked if the repair work for the water damage is usually allocated to the 
Reserve Fund. Nancy Houle explained that in the general industry standard, the operating budget 
takes care of anything that is above the deductible for major repairs and replacement if the 
corporation decides to self insurance. Portions of the self insured can come from the Reserve 
Fund if they were part of an expected project. Nancy noted that this is something that the auditor 
could work with the Board on to get adjusted in the coming year to make sure that it is properly 
accounted for. 
 
Ian Carpenter (326) asked if the water damage of $33,267.00 was all related to the boiler system 
as he was concerned that there were expenses that weren’t put into 2018 which would be rolled 
into 2019 thereby potentially causing a special assessment.  It was noted that Ian would like a 
detailed breakdown of the $33,267.00 expenditure.  
 
Nancy Houle confirmed that the Board has signed the Financial Statements. 
 
 
5.        APPOINTMENT OF THE AUDITOR  
 
George Weber (403) inquired if the Board had any in-camera sessions with the auditor. It was 
confirmed that the Board had the majority of their discussions with the auditor over email and 
had also spoken over the phone at least two or three times. 
 
It was noted that the Board has been satisfied with the services of the auditor, that they would 
recommend reappointing them as auditor, and that their audit fees were comparable to industry 
standard. 
Moved by George Weber (403) that the firm of BDO Canada, be retained as auditor for the 
following fiscal year. Seconded by Wendy Zatylny (204). All in favour. Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 



6.        APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING MINUTES 
 
Moved by Helene Filion (107) to put the Minutes on the floor. Seconded by Doug Wigney 
(320). All in favour. Motion carried. 
George Weber (203) noted that there was an error on page 2, paragraph 5 whereby the word 
“note” should be changed to “not”. It was noted that there were no objections to the correction.  
By a show of hands, all owners voted in favour of approving the previous Annual General 
Minutes with the proposed amendment. Motion Carried. 
Ron Allen (103) thanked the previous Board for coming in $10,000.00 under budget. A round of 
applause went out to the previous Board. 
 
Helene Filion (107) also thanked the Board as it was not an easy year for them and stated that 
they did an extraordinary job.  
 
One owner thanked Diana Zahab, as President, and her teammates for doing an outstanding job. 
A round of applause went out to Diana and all of the Board Members.  
 
A round of applause went out to Gisèle Davidson for all of her work on the Board. 
 
 
7.       BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 
 
Attached as “Appendix “A”.  
 
 
8.       BOARD RESPONSE TO QUESTIONS POSED BY OWNERS 
 
 
It was noted that the Board’s response to the questions posed by owners were provided to the 
owners at the AGM. 
 
 
9.        APPOINTMENT OF SCRUTINEERS 
 
Denise Villeneuve (332) and Mohammad Naqi (203)  volunteered and were approved to act as 
scrutineers. 
 
 
10.        ELECTION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
Nancy Houle noted that there were three Board positions that were open; two positions for a 
three-year term and one position to fill the remaining year of a three-year term. 
 



In response to Barbara Elkin’s question (429) Nancy Houle explained that the resident elect 
position can only be voted on by owners who live in their units.  
 
Margaret VanDongen (305) had put her name forward to run for the Board of Directors.  
 
Francois Leblanc nominated Ross Allan (308). Ross Allan accepted the nomination. 
 
Joanna Crilly (302) nominated Francois Leblanc (232). Francois Leblanc consented to the 
nomination. 
 
Ron Allen (103) nominated Helene Filion (107). Helene did not consent to the nomination. 
 
One owner nominated Doug Wigney (320). Doug consented to the nomination. 
 
One owner nominated Ron Allen (103). Ron did not consent to the nomination. 
 
One owner asked if one of the Board Members could explain what the role of a Board Member 
involved. Tranna Homenick stated that she has one year remaining on the Board and it was a 
tough decision for her not to leave early. She chose to stay because she could not, in good 
conscience, throw a new Board in without any guidance. While under Apollo’s management, the 
Board Members had no personal lives as they had to do the work that Apollo was supposed to do 
and were paid to do. Tranna stated that a new Board Member would not regret joining the Board 
as Michael Barnett is the best property manager that the corporation has ever had. 
  
Moved by Ron Allen (103) to close the nominations. Seconded by Nicole Hughes (127). All in 
favour. Motion carried.  
 
Nancy Houle noted that Paul O’Connor is stepping down from the Board of Directors after one 
year. Nancy explained that, as Paul’s term was for three years, his position cannot be voted on 
tonight but the new Board will appoint someone to sit on the Board until the next AGM. 
 
Paul O’Connor apologized for having to step down after one year on a year three term. Paul 
noted that he has enjoyed his time with the Board and that he is very comfortable buying into the 
building knowing that everything is working well. Paul stated that his time on the Board was not 
all roses. There was a group of people that hammered away at the Board and critiqued them all 
of the time which was absolutely brutal. Paul stated that he is stepping down from the Board for 
health reasons as he was told to reduce his stress. A round of applause went out to Paul.  
 
Helene O’Brien (206) thanked Paul for all of his work on the Board. Helene stated that she was 
sorry for all of his stress and wished him good health. 
 
The candidates had an opportunity to address the owners and the owners had an opportunity to 
ask the candidates questions.  
 



Nancy Houle explained that there will be a two-step election tonight. Owners will vote for the 
resident-elect position first and then the two three-year term positions second. All candidates 
agreed to run for all three positions.  Nancy Houle clarified that each unit is entitled to one vote. 
In response to one owner’s question, Nancy Houle, stated that in order to ensure that there is no 
flaw in the election process, she will count the number of votes received and cross-reference 
them with the list of resident owners in attendance this evening.  
  
10.1    Election of One(1) Resident Election Position for a One-Year Term 
 
Margaret VanDongen (305) was elected to the Board of Directors to the resident-elect position 
for a one-year term. Nancy Houle stated that Margaret has 10 days to consent in writing to the 
nomination.  

 
10.2     Election of Two Positions for a Three-Year Term for Which All Owners May Vote 
 
Ross Allan (308) and Doug Wigney (320) were elected to the Board of Directors, each for a 
three-year term. 
 
Nancy Houle explained that a motion to destroy the ballots is no longer necessary. The new 
Condominium Act requires that the ballots and proxies be kept for 90 days. On the 90th day, they 
can be destroyed if no requests have been made by the owners to see the ballots or proxies. 
Nancy confirmed that on the 90th day, her office will destroy the ballots and proxies. 
 
 
11.       CORPORATION BUSINESS DISCUSSION 
 
11.1 Proposed Rules for the Corporation 
 
Paul O’Connor noted that there were five people involved in the Rules Committee: Doug, Paul, 
Joel, Margaret and himself who put together the Rules Package that was provided to the owners 
prior to the meeting. The Rules Committee identified that there is no procedure for amending, 
adding or deleting a Rule and that this will be one of the   items that they will work on in the 
coming year. 
 
Ron Allen (103) asked what is going to be done with the parking dilemma with grocery carts as 
this Rule should be changed as of today. Ron stated that it is illegal to tell people that they can’t 
have medical mobility devices within their parking space and noted that this is not accounted for 
in the parking Rules.  Nancy Houle explained the process for any particular amendments that 
need to be made to the proposed Rules. The Board puts the Rules together, they get sent out to 
the owners, and then they come into effect after 30 days unless owners ask for amendments to be 
made. Nancy also stated that the amendments that Ron has asked for cannot be done tonight as 
other owners who are not present this evening did not get notice of the proposed amendment. 
Owners have 30 days from the day the Rules went out to requisition a meeting. The Board is 
explaining the process tonight and following tonight, if owners would like to make changes to 
the Rules, they are to put a requisition into the Board with support of 15% of the owners. The 



Board will then go forward to call the meeting and have the vote at that time. Nancy stated that 
with respect to the parking mobility issue, she agrees 100% that duties to accommodate always 
supersede. This does not have to put in the Rule because the Human Rights Tribunal will always 
trump the Rules. Nancy Houle stated that if Ron wants this amendment in the Rules, he is 
required to obtain 15% of the owners to support the amendment which he will then bring to the 
Board to call a meeting. Paul Turner stated that the Rules Committee will discuss both issues and 
noted that they are valid amendments. 
 
Ron Allen (103) asked if the Board and property management is telling him that his shopping 
cart won’t be confiscated. Nancy Houle stated that until the Rule comes into effect, it is not a 
Rule. The old Rule stands until the new proposed Rule comes into effect.  Under the 
Condominium Act, in order to change a previous Rule, there is a process to follow. In the 
meantime, if there is a particular Rule that results in unfair, unequitable or behaviour that is 
against the Human Rights, individual owners should contact the property manager and deal with 
the individual circumstances. The Board must follow the Rules in place at the time.  
 
Helene Filion (107) asked if it was possible to have a temporary Rule that would allow the 
grocery cart to stay in the parking spot for 90 days. Nancy Houle responded that the Board 
cannot accept this temporary Rule. One owner stated that the Board has already given owners an 
exemption until tonight.  Nancy Houle clarified that the Board is giving each individual owner an 
exemption under personal circumstances. Nancy Houle stated that the Rules are in effect subject 
to personal exceptions.  
  
One owner asked how the owners who are not present tonight will be advised to send a letter to 
the property manager advising that they require an exemption regarding a shopping cart. Nancy 
Houle stated that it is up to each individual who is not present tonight to inform themselves on 
this issue. The new Board can also decide to send out a Newsletter concerning this issue. 
 
In response to Joel Hughes’ question (127), Nancy Houle stated that the proposed changes to the 
Rules would be looked at by the Board, then approved by the Board, then resent out to the 
owners. If the Rules Committee wished to make one small change to a Rule, they would be 
required to go through the required process and find 15% of the owners willing to call a meeting, 
unless the Board decides that they are comfortable making the further purposed change. Nancy 
clarified that the way the Rules work is that the Board proposes the amendment, the ownership 
has 30 days to consider the changes, if the ownership likes the changes, they come into effect 
after 30 days. If further changes are requested by the owners, 15% of the owners are required to 
requisition a meeting. The changes will then come into effect if the majority of the owners at the 
meeting vote in favour of the amendments.  
 
Anne-Marie Clysdale (202) inquired about the process of obtaining 15% of the owners to call a 
meeting. Nancy Houle responded that owners could just knock on their neighbours’ door. In 
response to Anne-Marie’s further question, Nancy stated that the Rules are the final version and 
since the Notice of the 30 days was not in the AGM package, the Board will send out a 
clarification Notice immediately which will advise owners of the required 30 days notice. The 30 
days notice will start from when the Notice is sent out. 



Ron Allen (103) noted that subject to the Fire Department and City By-laws, the parking spot is 
his property and if someone takes something from his spot, he will call the Police. Nancy Houle 
cautioned that the Condominium Corporation has a right to pass rules within their jurisdiction 
that are sometimes stricter than municipal rules, and cautioned owners to not disobey the Rules. 
Section 19 of the Condominium Act provides the Condominium Corporation right of access to 
fulfill the duties of the corporation. 
 
Peter Valois (304) stated that he supports what is being said, however, a decision cannot be made 
when there are only 40 out of 122 present this evening. 
 
Joanne suggested that if owners don’t like a specific Rule, they can contact her to put it in the 
Newsletter in order to reach out to other owners to try and obtain the 15%. 
 
One owner asked if Rules can be submitted individually. Nancy stated that even though the 
Rules were sent out as a package, owners can object to any portion of a Rule, even a sub-section 
of a Rule.  
 
Nancy Houle recommended that the new Board send out a Notice to the owners, following the 
AGM, confirming the process for the Rules. 
 
Helene O’Brien (206) stated that many of the owners have handicapped stickers and also cannot 
carry their groceries. She noted that since they would be allowed to park at the front of the store 
with the handicapped sticker, she would like the Board to consider amending the Rules to allow 
the grocery carts. Nancy Houle stated she should make a request to the Board with respect to this 
issue.  
 
In response to one owner’s question, Nancy Houle confirmed that the Rules Committee helps the 
Board in drafting the Rules before they go out to owners and that most of the Rules come from 
precedents from other condominium corporations, from management, from legal counsel etc., 
based on what other condominiums are doing in the industry. An owner can suggest a change to 
the Committee to be considered, however, there is no obligation for the Committee to accept the 
change. 
 
In response to Ron Allen’s (103) question, Nancy Houle, stated that the new Board of Directors 
will choose legal counsel going forward after tonight’s meeting.  
 
In response to one owner’s question, Nancy Houle, stated that the Board of Directors and the 
property manager are responsible for enforcing the Rules.  
 
One owners asked what the process for enforcement of the Rules was. Michael Barnett explained 
that with respect to the shopping cart issue, a mistake was made as communications were not 
made as they should have been made. There should have been notice given to the individuals 
with options of what they can do from there. For a breach of the Rules for another issue, the 
owner would be notified that they are in breach of the Rules, and if it was a health and safety 
issue, then they would be asked to immediately cease and desist. If the issue is not related to 



health and safety, they would be asked to take care of the situation or management would go in 
and take care of the situation and bill the owner for the costs.  
 
One owner noted that she was given a handwritten note on a scrap piece of paper and asked if 
future notices could be typed on letterhead. Nancy Houle confirmed that this notice is not a 
proper corporate record and that the property manager will ensure that, going forward, there will 
be proper corporate records in dealing with infractions. Nancy stated that if a note was suspected 
to have come from another resident, the owner could bring it to Michael Barnett who will look 
into the notice to see if it was issued by the Board or another resident. 
 
Paul O’Connor noted that it was never the Committee’s intention to get rid of the shopping carts 
so when the Rule was written they did not include shopping carts. The old Rule indicates that a 
parking spot is for a single motor vehicle which could be interpreted to allow only a single motor 
vehicle to occupy the parking spot. Paul noted that everyone is in agreement that the shopping 
carts should stay but the Rules need to be adjusted to reflect the change. 
 
Ron Allen (103) stated that property management should not act on their own with respect to the 
shopping carts. Nancy Houle explained that there is a certain amount of authority delegated to 
the property manager through the management contract. Enforcement of the Rules is delegated to 
the property manager and then brought to the Board at their monthly meetings to discuss. 
 
11.2 General Questions  
 
As the meeting was losing quorum, Nancy Houle asked if the owners still wanted to discuss the 
following items: 
 
Standard Operations, Operating Budgets, Reserve Fund Study 
It was noted that owners did not wish to further discuss the above. 
 
Community Harmony  
Nancy Houle noted that owners are generally all in agreement that they will work together to try 
and restore harmony in the community. Nancy reminded owners to be careful on what they send 
out to the owners as you don’t want anything to get out to the public that could cause a red flag 
or cause a concern.  
 
Condominium Fees of Other Buildings  
There was a question about how the condominium fees compare to other condominiums. Nancy 
Houle stated that from a financial perspective, the condominium fees of other buildings are not 
relevant to this condominium, as whatever it costs to run the building, is what the condominium 
fees have to be. Nancy also stated that hopefully the Reserve Fund Study will not go past 2% in 
the coming years, but it is always subject to the as-found conditions of the Reserve Fund coming 
into the update. 
 
In response to Francois Leblanc’s (232) question, the property manager confirmed that the 
answers to the list of questions submitted by the owners were handed out to owners at the AGM. 



In response to one owner’s question, it was confirmed that it will be several months before a 
draft of the Reserve Fund study will be released. 
 
In response to Don Clysdale’s question (202), Nancy Houle noted that the property manager 
could check with the engineers to see if anything could be done to eliminate the possibility of 
water flowing down to the parking in the event of another water leak.  
  
In response to Joan Johnston’s question (302), Nancy Houle stated that the cost of a Special 
Meeting in order to pass the Rules does not have to be expensive.  
 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Moved by Anne-Marie Clysdale (202) to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Shirly Valois 
(304). All in Favour. Motion Carried.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:46 p.m. 



 

MISCELLANEOUS BUDGET NOTES – Annual General Meeting 2019 

 

This is a follow-up to the budget information meeting we held in April.  We had 

committed to providing information in response to certain questions.   This is not a 

reflection of the 2018/19 audit which, as of the date of this document, has not yet been 

submitted.  

 

First, some general information: 

 

Last Year’s Budget Deficit 2018/19: 

The 2018-19 Budget was set with a planned deficit of $39,901 which was to have 

been covered by the accumulated surplus from prior years.  This did not take into 

account the unplanned expenses as a result of the flood late in the previous fiscal year.   

While we are still waiting for the final audited numbers, the preliminary results are that 

we will end the year with a slightly higher deficit than budgeted.  The Audited figures 

show the deficit.   

 

Flood Costs:  

The total cost for work related to the flood is estimated at $75,000 of which 

approximately $35,000 was accounted for in this fiscal year.   Some charges were 

carried forward to this fiscal year because of disputed charges which were resolved 

recently.  The reason for the approximations is that the records were kept by Apollo for 

the first portion of the work and by CIPM for the last portions.  Up to April 2019, we only 

have paper files for the expenditures.  It is very difficult to separate flood related 

expenses from other operational expenses, especially with the change-over of Property 

Management firms.  

The following is an excerpt from the last Audit Report: 
“In addition, water damage during the year required the Corporation to effect repairs 

to the common areas and to several units, work which was in progress but not 

complete as of year end. The total cost of the work is $52,790 including HST. 

$43,927 of the total will be charged to the operating fund being the cost to complete 

the required unit repairs, $8,785 of which was charged to expense during the year 

with the balance to be charged in fiscal 2019 once the work is complete. 

Common area repairs of $8,863 will be charged to the reserve fund in 2019 

upon completion.” 

.   

Efforts to Mitigate against future floods:   

While it is not possible to anticipate a breakdown of this nature, we have taken steps to 

mitigate the extent of the possible future damage.  We now have a key to the water 

room in a lock box that is be accessible by all Board members and the leader of the 

Security Team.  These individuals will be trained in how to turn off the main water intake 

for the building.  This will allow us to act before Property Management personnel arrive. 

That could save us at least 20 minutes of water infiltration.   

 



Reduction of last year’s Deficit: 

Thanks to a recommendation from CIPM, your current Board was able to contain last 

year’s deficit by applying for, and receiving a rebate from the Ontario Government for 

Hydro costs.  This was a special program that has been in place for years before our 

application and we were only able to claim two years of rebates.  We expect to save 

$45,000 that will be applied as credits to our Hydro bills. 

 

New Budget – 2019/20: 

The new budget that we have set for 2019/20 is a balanced one.   

 

Cost of Superintendent and Cleaning Staff: 

Prior to CIPM taking over the property management function, the Corporation used 

Apollo Property Management Services.  At that time we had a full time Superintendent 

(40 hours per week) and a half-time cleaner (20 hours per week).  Currently we engage 

the Superintendent for 32 hours per week and the cleaner for 30 hours per week.    

The differences in costs for salaries should reflect this change in hours as well as a 

change in salaries for CIPM versus Apollo. The two on-site staff are subcontracted by 

CIPM.  We are currently working with CI to review their job descriptions with a view to 

ensuring that they meet our needs.  We are taking into account suggestions and 

complaints we have received from owners.  

  

Common element parking costs:  

A very small payment ($15) is made to City taxes for the parking spot which belongs to 

the Corporation. We argued with the City that this spot is not useful as a parking spot 

because of the service access panels that are on the wall.  They agreed with us but 

continue to charge this small fee.  The Corporation has turned the spot into bicycle 

parking.   

 

Comparison of Reserve Fund Studies (RFS): 

WSP prepared a RFS that projected costs for 45 years.  Although the legislation only 

requires a 30 year horizon, some firms anticipated a longer horizon and they project 

over a longer period of time.  As many of our building systems have a life expectancy of 

more than 30 years, during 2015 the Board agreed to longer planning horizon.  The 

most recent RFS was prepared by Keller and they were asked to take the 30 year 

approach.  The document shows some other anticipated expenses beyond this time 

frame but only because WSP had already estimated these costs.   

 

The two studies take a different approach to adding inflationary increases.  WSP added 

it to all items on the chart, Keller only adds it to the total calculations.  We appreciate 

that this makes it more difficult to compare costs.  We prepared a working document for 

the Board’s use when we reviewed the new RFS.  If there are specific questions, we 

would be pleased to try and answer them.   

 

  



Energy Audit:   

We do not know if this has ever happened and will review the documents to see if it has.  

We will discuss this with CIPM to determine if, based on their experience with other 

buildings, it would be useful. 

 

Water Usage Study:   

If feasible, we will consider doing this.  Each year we receive information on water 

usage and can compare year to year.  Many of you will have read in the papers about 

large increases to water costs.  This has not happened yet but we continue to monitor 

costs.  If large increases are on the horizon, we will consider conservation options, 

including a usage study.  

    

Records: 

It should be noted that when Apollo was replaced by CI they put all of our files and 

documents into boxes.  Your Board is going through these boxes to remove duplicate 

copies of material and determine what can be kept as paper files and what should be 

digitized.  As you can imagine, this will take some time.  When we have finished, CIPM 

will digitize the files we wish to keep electronically.  

  

Common Elements versus Owned Elements:   

The description in the Declaration delineates what belongs to owners and what belongs 

to the Corporation.  

 

 “Boundaries of Units and Monuments. The monuments controlling the extent 
 of the units are the physical surfaces mentioned in the boundaries of units in 
 Schedule "C" attached hereto. Notwithstanding the boundaries of the Units, no 
 Unit includes structural walls, wires, pipes, cables, conduits, ducts, flues, breaker 
 boxes used for power or public utility lines within a Unit which serves other 
 Units as well as that of an owner. 
 
 Schedule C 
 The monuments which control the extent of all Units are the physical surfaces 
 hereinafter defined, namely: 
 The Residential Units (Units 1 to 27 Level 1, Units 1 to 32 Levels 2 and 3, Units 1 
 to 31 Level 4) 
 1. The Horizontal Boundaries are: 
 a) The lower limit Is the upper unfinished surface of the concrete floor slab 
 beneath the Unit 
 b) The upper limit is the lower unfinished surface of the concrete slab above the 
 Unit 
 2. The Vertical Boundaries are: 
 a) The backside surface of the drywall on the exterior walls of each Unit; 
 b) In the vicinity of the structural walls and columns, all of which shall not form 
 part of the Unit, the backside surface of the drywall surrounding such walls and 
 columns; 



 c) In the vicinity of pipe and duct chases, all of which shall not form part of the 
 Unit, the backside surface of the drywall surrounding such chases; 
 d) In the vicinity of the windows and exterior doors, the unfinished Interior surface 
 of the windows and doors In closed position, the Inner or Unit side surface of the 
 glass contained therein, and the unfinished Interior surface of the window and 
 door frames.” 
 
Cooling System and Roof Top noise level: 
The costs for replacement or overhaul of the cooling and heating systems are included 
in the RFS.  Each component has an anticipated life expectancy of 20-25 years.  
Consequently, neither system is expected to require major work until 2030.  The 
replacement of the chiller is anticipated to cost $333,000.  Overhaul of the chiller is 
anticipated in 2025 and is expected to cost close to $40,000.  At that time we could 
assess any possible way to reduce the noise.    
 
What unexpected expenses of $10,000 or more did we have? 
The flood was one of those unexpected events and cost us about $75,000. 
 
How do you make use of the surplus funds? 
On 31 March 2017 there was a surplus of $86,840.  The Board set a deficit budget for 
that year, drew down on this surplus, and limited the increase to Condo fees.  The same 
was done in the following year where the starting surplus was $52,070.  The budget for 
the year was set as a deficit of $39,900.  As we all know, there were unexpected costs 
of approximately $75,000 related to the flood.  Had there been no further action, we 
would have experienced a deficit of over $60,000.   As we point out above, the Hydro 
rebate helped limit the deficit situation.   On 31 March 2019, the end of fiscal year 
2018/19, there was only $15,000 left in surplus.  These funds will be used to minimize 
the impact of the roll-over of the costs from the flood.  When the current fiscal year is 
over, we anticipate that there will no longer be a surplus.   
 
Budget Expenses Ranked:  

The chart below shows a list of the major expenditures and the percent of the total 

budget that these represent.  

Budget Item Percent of Expenses 

Reserve fund 38.43 

Utilities- hydro 10.97 

Utilities – Water 8.08 

Property Management 7.02 

Superintendent 5.49 

Cleaning 4.76 

Utilities – Gas 4.49 

Insurance 3.66 

Landscaping 2.63 

Maintenance/HVAC 2.09 

Snow Removal 1.78 

Elevator Maintenance 1.72 



 

Party Room Rental Fee: 

The Board was questioned on the rental fee and deposit fee for the Party room.  CIPM 

has been asked to compare with fees set by other buildings.  We wait for their advice on 

this. The Deposit, which is returned to the user if the room is returned to its original 

state, represents potential costs for cleaning and repairs.  If the room is cleaned and 

undamaged, this should not be an issue.   

Comparison of Condominium Fees for buildings in our area: 

The Chart below shows the condo fee per unit (as a percentage of the value of the unit) 

for buildings in our area.  Most of these buildings were constructed in the same time 

frame as our building.  Newer buildings in our area are not included as the fees are 

often lower as the developers set them as low as possible in order to sell units.   This 

information was taken from Multiple Listing Data on real estate sites earlier this year.  

 

Condo Fee (CF) Comparison 2019 
(done by reviewing MLS listings on 
the Real Estate sites) 

     

Address 
Listing 
Price 

Condo fee 
CF 

CF as 
% of 
price  

# 
Bed 

# 
Bath MLS # 

 160 George - 125 units - Built 1986 
     160 George $434,900.00 $718.00 1.98 2 2 1145609 Does not include heat.  

160 George $699,000.00 $922.00 1.58 2 2 1143358 Does not include heat.  

        90 George - 104 units - Built 2009 
     90 George  $658,000.00 $1,120.00 2.04 2 2 1129512 

 90 George $799,000.00 $1,112.00 1.67 
  

1130806 
 

        260 Besserer - 50 units - Built 2004 
     260 Besser. $449,900.00 $704.00 1.88 2 2 1143727 Does not include heat 

        179 George - 201 units - Built 2006 
     179 George  $429,000.00 $769.00 2.15 2 2 1142098 

 

        205 Bolton - 122 units - Built 2005 
     205 Bolton $489,900.00 $742.00 1.82 2 2 1139003 

 205 Bolton $449,888.00 $697.00 1.86 2 2 Sold 
 205 Bolton $355,000.00 $496.00 1.68 1 1 Sold 
 205 Bolton $364,900.00 $532.00 1.75 1 1 1139881 
 205 Bolton $493,000.00 $697.00 1.70 2 2 Sold 
   



180 York - 116 units - Built 2003 
     180 York $424,900.00 $880.00 2.49 2 2 1135568 

 

        134 York -  units - Built 2004 
     134 York  $420,000.00 $628.00 1.79 2 2 1143547 

 

        200 Rideau -  units - Built 2008 
     200 Rideau  $419,000.00 $569.00 1.63 2 2 X4385404 Does not include heat 

200 Rideau $419,900.00 $566.00 1.62 2 2 1140597 Does not include heat 

200 Rideau $468,000.00 $450.00 1.15 2 2 1144103 Does not include heat 

 



 

Sussex Square Annual General Meeting – 2019 

 

President’s Message 

 

This has been a year of transition.  With a new Board and a new Management 

Company we have been on a steep learning curve.  We have progressed through three 

Property Managers and have seen three of our Board members resign and one new 

Director appointed.  We have tried not to let these events have taken us off track.  The 

plans we set for ourselves early in the term for this Board have been largely met.   

 

Rules.  The Board completed the draft of the new Rules, met with owners to seek their 

input and had the revised Rules reviewed by our legal counsel.  The final version has 

now been sent to all owners.  We thank everyone for their input to this process.   

 

Reserve Fund Study.  The Board worked with Keller Engineering to complete the study 

which was initiated by the last Board.  We held a meeting with owners to discuss the 

study as well as our proposed budget for 2019/20.  Most of the actions required this 

year under the Study have been completed or are underway.  The assessment of the 

parking garage floor was completed and we have been advised that, generally, the floor 

is still sound.   We received recommendations for follow-up repairs on some plumbing 

leakage and ongoing monitoring for the next five years.  In five years we will need to 

reassess the need to repair or replace the membrane. The RFS indicates that a repair 

to the suspended slab is required in 20/21 ($145,300) and replacement of the 

membrane in 31/32 ($324,100). Everything is on track as we have the funds allocated in 

the Reserve Fund.  The assessment of our windows is now underway.  We have not yet 

received the engineer’s report but expect to have it soon.  Ongoing window 

replacements continue to be scheduled.   Work on the domestic hot water system has 

not begun.   Our tanks are inspected regularly by our HVAC contractor and we would be 

notified if action is required.  The tanks have a life of up to 25 years so this may not 

have to happen this year although there is an allocation in the Reserve Fund for 

replacement this year if necessary.  

 

Corporation Records.  The changeover of property management companies has 

added some additional tasks.  As we told you in previous communications, we received 

all of Apollo’s files in 17 boxes of hard copy. We are still making our way through these 

to ensure that there is a full corporate record.  Some will be digitized and some will be 

retained in hard copy.  We thank those owners who have been working with us on this 

initiative.  

 



Bell Fibe Installation:  The Corporation received a request from Bell to install the 

cabling required to offer our residents the high speed Bell Fibe service.  The Board 

decided that this would be an added advantage for our building and initiated the process 

for installation.  This has not been without problems.  A number of the cable chases are 

blocked.  Installation will, therefore, require some additional work.  We have not heard 

back from Bell in some time (despite numerous enquiries) as to when this work will be 

done.   We will keep you posted.  

  

Preventive Maintenance Program.  We have been working on the planning of this 

program and plan to do visits of units this fall.  You will hear more soon.   The last time 

we undertook such a program we were able to reduce our Insurance Premium 

substantially.  While we do not expect this again, we have been advised by our 

insurance broker that fewer and fewer companies offer condominium insurance 

services.  With a good claims record and a good preventive maintenance program we 

should be able to ensure future coverage for the building.  We thank owners who will be 

working with us on this project.  

 

Communications:  We have tried to be as open as possible with our activities and 

plans.  We have issued several Board Communiques and will continue to do so.  If there 

are suggestions for how you feel we could improve even more, we would be pleased to 

hear them.  

 

Volunteers:   As a final note I would like to thank all those owners and residents who 

have worked with us over the past year to make this a safe and pleasant place to live.  

That includes the Security Committee whose members inspect our property nightly and 

alert us to issues, the Social Committee who have planned and executed several very 

successful events that contribute to the neighbourly feel of our building,  the Landscape 

Committee who work with the landscaper to ensure that our property is well maintained 

and who plant and maintain the annual floral displays in the court yard and on the roof 

top, and the Newsletter team who provide us with much information both on our Condo 

and on our community.  Other individuals not associated with a specific committee 

continue to assist us with records management and Preventive Maintenance Program 

planning. 

 

These many volunteers have made our job easier.  It is a large task to manage 122 

homes.  We look forward to enlisting other volunteers in the coming year to make this 

even a better place to live.  You will see on the table when you entered for the AGM, a 

sign-up sheet for the many tasks that would be made easier with additional volunteers.  

Please take a look and add your name. With additional help, the work will be more 

manageable.  We also seek the assistance of in-house experts from time to time – 



engineers, lawyers, etc.  If you fit one of the disciplines that we might need, please add 

your name and your area of specialization.   

 

Thank you, 

 

Margaret VanDongen 

President and Secretary 
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Introduction 

The following Rules respecting the use of the common elements and units are made to promote 
the safety, security, and welfare of the Owners, tenants and the property, and for the purpose of 
preventing unreasonable interference with their use and enjoyment of the common elements and 
of other units.  

All previous Rules are hereby repealed. 

The Corporation may pass additional Rules or amend or delete existing Rules from time to time in 
accordance with the Condominium Act, 1998. 

Definitions 

For the purpose of these rules the following definitions apply: 

Owner: the person or persons on the official government registry as the owner(s) and shall 
include their families, visitors, agents, and occupants of the unit. 

Tenant: the person or persons who are leasing or renting the unit from an owner and shall 
include their families, visitors, agents, and occupants of the unit. 

Any other words and phrases which are defined in the Condominium Act, 1998, as amended from 
time to time, or the Regulations there under, or any successor thereto, shall have ascribed to them 
the meanings set out in the Act. 

1.   General 

1.1 Any losses, costs or damages incurred by the Corporation by reason of a breach of 
any of the Corporation’s Rules in force at the time by any Owner, his or her family, 
guests, servants, agents, tenants or occupants of his or her unit shall be borne by 
such Owner and may be recovered by the Corporation against such Owner in the 
same manner as common expenses. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
such losses, costs or damages shall include, but shall not necessarily be limited to, 
the following: 

a) All legal costs incurred by the Corporation in order to enforce, or in attempting to 
enforce, these Rules; 

b) Any other costs incurred by the Corporation in relation to the administration and 
enforcement of these rules which will be charged to the owner on a cost recovery 
basis.  
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1.2 No restriction, condition, obligation or provision contained in any of the Corporation 
Rules shall be deemed to have been abrogated or waived by reason of any failure to 
enforce the same irrespective of the number of violations or breaches thereof which 
may occur or have occurred. 

1.3 Each of these Rules shall be deemed independent and severable and the invalidity or 
unenforceability in whole or in part of any one or more of these Rules shall not impair 
or affect in any manner the validity, enforceability, or effect of the remaining part of 
that Rule (if appropriate) or of the Rules, and in such event, the other part of the Rule 
(if appropriate) or the other Rules shall continue in full force and effect as if such 
invalid Rule or part of a Rule had never been included herein. 

1.4 If a Rule is inconsistent with the provisions of the Declaration or By-Laws of the 
Corporation, the provisions of the Declaration and By-Laws shall prevail and the Rule 
shall be deemed to be amended accordingly. 

2.  General Prohibitions  

2.1 No Owner shall do anything, or permit anything to be done either physically, 
electronically or virtually, on the property that is contrary to any Provincial or Federal 
Statute (including Canada’s Criminal Code), or Municipal By-Law or any Rules, 
Regulations or Ordinances passed under any Statute or Municipal By-Law. 

2.2 The condominium property constitutes a “workplace” of the Corporation, as defined 
under the Occupational Health and Safety Act.  Workplace violence and harassment 
(each as defined under the Occupational Health and Safety Act) are prohibited.  The 
Corporation also has a policy respecting workplace violence and harassment. 

2.3 No one shall treat any other person with violence or harassment.  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, violence and harassment (as defined below) are 
prohibited against the following persons: 

 The members of the Board 

 All officers or agents of the Corporation 

 The Corporation’s manager 

 Owners and occupants of the units, and their guests (while on the 

property). 

 “harassment” means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct 
against another person that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be 
unwelcome; and includes sexual harassment. 

“violence” means: 

a) the exercise of physical force by a person against another person that 
causes or could cause physical injury to the other person 

b) an attempt to exercise physical force against another person that could 
cause physical injury to the other person, OR 



 

September 2019 

                                                                                     Page 6 of 20  

 

c) a statement or behavior that is reasonable for another person to interpret 
as a threat to exercise physical force against another person that could 
cause physical injury to the other person. 

2.4 No Owner shall do or permit anything to be done in his or her unit or bring or keep 
anything therein which in any way will: 

(a) increase the risk of fire or the rate of insurance on the building, or on 

property kept herein; 

(b) obstruct or interfere with the rights of other Owners or unreasonably 

injure or annoy them; 

(c) conflict with the laws relating to fire or with the Regulations of the Fire 

Department or with any insurance policy carried by the Corporation or 

any Owner; 

(d) conflict with any Rules or ordinances of the Board of Health or with 

any statute or Municipal By-Law. 

2.5 An Owner shall be responsible for any increase in insurance premiums on any of the 
Corporation’s insurance policies which result from any act or omission of the Owner 
or the Owner’s family, visitors, agents, tenants or occupants of the unit. Any such 
amounts shall be recoverable by the Corporation in accordance with Rule 1.1.  (See 
article 3.1(b) of the Declaration.)  

3. Airbnb  

3.1 As noted in Article 3.1(a) of the Declaration, the residential units can be occupied and 
used only as single-family dwellings. 

Further to the foregoing, the following uses are prohibited: 

a)  Hotel-type, boarding or lodging house use (including a bed and breakfast, an on-
line marketplace and hospitality service, an on-line short-term occupancy service, 
a time-share, or similar use); 

b) Any transient use of the units, including but without limiting the general meaning, 
any license, lease, sublease, house exchange or other occupancy for a planned 
duration of less than six (6) months.  

A unit lease or tenancy shall be for the initial term of not less than six (6) months. All 
tenancies for units shall be in writing. An owner is entitled to lease their unit for a 
single period of less than six months once during a period of 12 consecutive months 
(example: a retired couple that spends four or five months in the south, could lease 
their unit for the period of their absence, or, a business person assigned for a three 
or four month contract to a location outside the city could lease his or her unit during 
the period of the assignment). 
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3.2 Tenants are strictly prohibited from subletting or renting to any third party, or allowing 
occupancy by a third party, of all or any portion of the Rental Unit for overnight stays 
or any other stays arranged on airbnb.com or any other similar websites. 

4.   Auctions and Garage Sales  

4.1 No auction sale or garage sale shall be held on the property without the written 
consent of the Board. 

5.   Balconies and Patios/Terraces 

5.1 Nothing shall be thrown off, swept off or shaken off the balconies or out of windows 
or doors. 

5.2 No carpet, tile or other flooring or material may be affixed or placed on top of the 
balcony floor or patio without the written consent of the Board. A small rug (maximum 
size 3 feet by 4 feet) can be kept on the balcony/patio floor but must be removed for 
the months of November to the end of April.  

5.3 No items other than seasonal furniture are permitted to be kept on balconies or 
patios. Specifically, no barbecue, hibachi or similar cookware shall be used on the 
balconies or patios. Planters or pots must have appropriate drainage/containment 
trays. 

5.4 Hanging or drying of clothes on balconies or patios is not permitted.  

6.   Bicycles 

6.1 Bicycles are not allowed in or on the lobby, hallways, elevators, balconies or patios. 
Bicycles shall be stored in the Owner’s locker or in the racks provided for such 
purpose.  

6.2 Skateboards or roller-blades shall not be used inside the building nor in the parking 
garage or courtyard.  

6.3 Bicycles found locked to the perimeter fencing or any part of Sussex Square property 
will be removed by the Corporation. 

7.   Clothes Washers, Dryers and Dishwashers 

7.1 Clothes washers, clothes dryers and dishwashers shall not be operated unless 
someone is present in the unit. 

http://airbnb.com/
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8.   Deliveries/removals:  

8.1 All deliveries of large items, such as but not limited to: major appliances; living room, 
dining room, den, and bedroom furniture; bookcases, desks, etc., to the building must 
be done through the service entrance door at the rear of the building. There are to be 
no deliveries/removals of these items through the front door. Residents are 
responsible to make the appropriate arrangements for the delivery or removal of 
items and to escort delivery personnel into and out of the building. The 
superintendent must be advised regarding deliveries/removals in order to prepare the 
elevators and minimize the inconvenience to other residents. 

8.2 The Owner is responsible for all damage caused to any part of the property during 
any such delivery.  

9. Driving Speed 

9.1 While on the property, motor vehicles and bicycles shall not be driven at a speed in 
excess of 15 km per hour 

10. Drones 

10.1 For the purposes of these Rules, a “Drone” means an unmanned, power driven     
aircraft that 

a) is not designed to carry persons or other living creatures, 
b) is mechanically driven or launched into flight; and 
c) is piloted remotely.  

10.2 No Owner or tenant shall use or operate a Drone anywhere on the property. 

10.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation may hire an individual or corporation 
 to use or operate a Drone on the property for purposes connected to the fulfilment of 
 the Corporation’s objects or duties.  

11. Electrical Circuits 

11.1 Owners shall not overload existing electrical circuits. 

12. Entry into Units 

12.1 This Rule is supplementary to the Corporation’s right of access set forth in the 
Condominium Act, 1998 and the Declaration. 

a) Keys / Alarms 

In order to facilitate the Corporation’s rights to access the units, each Owner shall 
provide to the Corporation a full set of keys for entry to the unit. The Corporation 
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shall keep the keys in safe storage. Whenever an Owner changes a lock, the 
Owner shall provide to the Corporation a key for the new lock. Owners with alarm 
systems are required to provide the Corporation with the alarm code for their unit 
in the event of an emergency requiring action by the Corporation. 

b) Entry 

The Corporation may enter any unit, upon reasonable notice, in order to 
carry out the objects and duties of the Corporation. Note, however, that in 
the case of an emergency it may be reasonable for the Corporation to 
gain immediate access to a unit without notice, provided the Corporation 
provides notice to the owner with reasonable haste after exercising such 
access.  

c) Regular Inspections 

The Corporation may also conduct “regular inspections” as follows: 

i. When a unit is sold or mortgaged, the Corporation may conduct an 
inspection of the unit prior to issuance of a Status Certificate; 

ii. The Corporation may conduct scheduled inspections and maintenance 
at pre-determined intervals each year. These inspections may be 
conducted for the following purposes: 

1) Assessment of the condition of components of the common 
elements or other conditions which may affect the common 
elements or other units; 

2) Visual review of any condition which might violate the 
provisions of the Act or the Corporation’s Declaration, By-Laws 
and Rules; and 

3) Inspection of smoke detectors and door closers. 
 

d) Unacceptable Conditions 
If, upon entry to a unit, the Corporation discovers any condition, which 
contravenes the Condominium Act or the Corporation’s Declaration, By-Laws 
or Rules, the Corporation may: 
i. Take steps to remedy the condition at the expense of the Owner of the 

unit; 
ii. Give notice of the condition to the Owner of the unit; 

iii. Take such other steps as the Board deems appropriate. 

However, the Owner of the unit, including any purchaser of the unit, shall be 
entirely and exclusively responsible for any such condition whether or not the 
condition has been detected by the Corporation, whether or not the 
Corporation has given any notice of the condition to the Owner or to the 
purchaser, and whether or not the Corporation has taken any other steps 
related to the condition. In other words, no steps taken by the Corporation 
hereunder shall relieve the Owner, including any purchaser of the unit, from 
full responsibility for the condition of the unit and any modifications made to 
the unit or the common elements by any Owner of the unit, including any 
prior Owner of the unit. It is the duty of every Owner to make or arrange all 
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necessary inspections in order to ascertain the condition of the unit and any 
such modifications to the common elements and then to take any appropriate 
corrective action. 

 

13. Exclusive Use Areas 

13.1 Owners shall keep their exclusive use areas clean and tidy. 

14.  Exercise Room  

14.1 The exercise room is for the exclusive use of the residents between the hours of 
6:00 AM and 11:00 PM and is restricted to persons 18 years of age or older.  

14.2 If a person is the last occupant of the exercise room they shall ensure that the 
patio door and windows are locked, the blinds are lowered and the lights are off 
when they leave. 

14.3 Weights shall not be dropped on the floor. 

 

15.  Exterior Decorations 

15.1 Exterior electrical seasonal decorations must not be installed prior to December 1 
and must be removed no later than January 15 (weather permitting). The Owner 
must ensure that the electrical decorations are CSA approved and in good 
working order. The building exterior must not be damaged in any way when 
installing decorations. 

16.  Fence 

16.1 Owners shall not attach, hang or place anything on any of the fences on the 

property. 

17.  Flooring 

17.1 For the purposes of this Rule, “hard flooring” shall include hardwood, tile or any other 
hard-surfaced material. 

a) Any Owner wishing to install hard flooring in a unit shall first obtain the written 
consent of the Board. The Owner shall apply for such consent, in writing, providing a 
detailed explanation of the steps which the Owner would take in order to meet the 
requirements of this Rule. Any resulting consent from the Board shall confirm the 
specific steps which will be taken in order to satisfy the requirements of this Rule. 

b) Any Owner who receives consent to install hard flooring in his or her unit shall take 
reasonable steps to minimize the transmission of noise through the flooring to other 
parts of the building. Such steps may include, but are not necessarily limited to: 

i. the installation of a sub-floor and insulating material underneath the hard 
flooring; 

ii. the use of area rugs in locations which are subject to heavy traffic; 
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iii. the use of pads on the legs of furnishings; and 
iv. such other steps as may be determined by the Board. 

c) In cases where hard flooring has been installed in a unit prior to the enactment of this 
Rule, the Owner shall take reasonable steps to minimize the transmission of noise 
through the flooring to other units. Such steps may include, but are not necessarily 
limited to: 

iii. the use of area rugs in locations which are subject to heavy traffic; 

iv. the use of pads on the legs of furnishings; 

v. such other steps as may be determined by the Board. 

d) Where an Owner fails to comply with any of the requirements in this Rule, the 
Corporation may direct the Owner to remove the hard flooring and to install new 
flooring similar to the flooring of the building's original construction, at the Owner’s 
sole expense. 

 

18.  Garbage 

18.1 No Owner/tenant shall place, leave or permit to be placed any debris, refuse or 
garbage in or on the common elements including those of which he or she has 
the exclusive use. 

18.2 No hazardous goods, appliances, furniture, mattresses, packing cartons or crates or 
other special or unusual waste (for example, car batteries, oil, refrigerators, etc.) shall 
be disposed of in the garbage room or as part of the regular garbage pick-up. 
Arrangements shall be made with the appropriate waste removal company or 
municipal waste management for pick-up of any such special waste. 

18.3 All recyclable waste shall be sorted and disposed of in the appropriate recycling 
containers. 

19.  Interior Decorations 

19.1 Owners/Tenants shall not bring natural Christmas trees into their units.    

19.2 Doorknockers, nameplates, posters, wreaths or other decorations shall not be 
attached to, or hung from, the exterior of the unit entry doors or window frames at 
any time.   

20.  Items on Common Elements 

20.1 Nothing shall be placed on the outside of window sills, projections, railings or other 
external parts of the building without the prior written consent of the Board.  

20.2 No awnings, shades, shutters, screens or blinds shall be erected over any exterior 
portion of a common element or an exclusive common element such as a window, 
door or patio, without the prior written consent of the Board.  

20.3 No hanging or drying of clothes is allowed on the common elements. 
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20.4 Generally, no unit Owner shall make any change to the common elements without 
the prior written consent thereto of the Board, and subject to the Act and the 
Declaration  

20.5 No building, structure, hot tub, fence, tent, trailer, motor home or camper, either with 
or without living, sleeping or cooking facilities, shall be placed, erected, located, kept 
or maintained on the common elements including exclusive use common elements, 
without the prior written consent of the Board. 

20.6 No articles or personal effects shall be left or stored on the common elements except 
motor vehicles properly parked in accordance with these Rules and other articles 
permitted in accordance with the Act and the Corporation’s Declaration, By-Laws and 
Rules. 

20.7 No part of the common elements shall be used for the mounting, placing or 
maintenance of clothes-lines, incinerators, garbage disposal equipment, recreation or 
athletic equipment, fences or other barriers, hedges, gardens or other vegetation or 
for the disposal of rubbish, garbage or waste, without the prior written consent of the 
Board. 

20.8 Nothing shall be carried through the lobbies, hallways or corridors that is likely to 
cause damage to the common elements. 

20.9 Nothing shall be thrown out of windows or doors. 

20.10 Bird feeders are not allowed on common elements including exclusive use common 
elements.  

20.11 Any item on the common elements in contravention of these Rules may be removed 
by the Board at the risk and expense of the Owner of the item. 

20.12  

a) The Owner of the unit is entirely responsible for all modifications made to the 
common elements by the Owner or their tenant and including those made by a 
previous Owner of the unit. Accordingly, the Owner of the unit is responsible for 
all maintenance, repair and insurance related to such modification(s) and must 
fully and completely indemnify and save harmless the Corporation from any 
claims, expenses or losses related in any way to the modification(s). 

b) If an Owner sells his or her unit, the Owner shall, upon request from the 
purchaser, provide to the purchaser a written list of all modifications made to the 
common elements by the Owner or by a previous Owner of the unit. 

c) When a unit is sold, it is the responsibility of the purchaser to determine what 
modifications have been made to the common elements by the vendor or by a 
previous Owner of the unit, and whether or not those modifications have been 
approved by the Corporation. 

d) Any modifications made without approval of the Corporation must be inspected, 
verified and/or certified by qualified people to the satisfaction of the Board and at 
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the cost to the owner. Where the modifications do not meet the applicable 
standards they shall be reversed. In any event, the Corporation has the right to 
require that any modification made to the common elements without the 
Corporation’s approval be reversed and the common elements restored to their 
prior condition at the Owner’s risk and expense. 

21.  Landscaping 

21.1 No one shall harm, mutilate, destroy, alter or place litter on any of the 
landscaping work on the property, including grass, trees, shrubs, hedges, flowers 
or flower beds, without the written consent of the Board. 

22.  Lease of a Unit 

22.1 The common elements, including the various amenities, are available for the use 
of the residents and their invitees. When an Owner leases a unit, the tenant 
acquires all of the Owner’s rights to use the common elements, and the landlord 
gives up these rights. 

The landlord then has only the following rights to attend at the property: 

a) to exercise his or her rights and responsibilities as a landlord; 

b) to fill the role of visitor, upon invitation of a resident. 

23.  Lint Traps 

23.1 Owners shall regularly clean out both (2) dryer lint traps. 

24.  Lock Boxes 

24.1 No Owner shall install a lock box on any part of the common elements. Any lock 
box installed or left on any part of the common elements may be removed by the 
Corporation at the expense of the unit Owner. 

25.  Moving 

25.1 Moving into or out of the building shall be between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
3:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. Use of the elevator shall only be permitted 
when coordinated with the superintendent.  A damage deposit in an amount 
determined from time to time by the Board shall be made payable by cheque to 
OCSCC #725 and shall be retained by the Superintendent until completion of the 
move and confirmation that no damage occurred as a result of the move. 

25.2 Moves outside these hours shall be coordinated with the Superintendent at 
additional cost as reasonably determined by the Board. 

25.3 Where moves are not coordinated with the Superintendent, the associated extra 
costs will still be levied. 



 

September 2019 

                                                                                     Page 14 of 20  

 

25.4 Moving in or out of the building shall only be through the designated service 
entrance door at the rear of the building. 

25.5 Household furniture, appliances and other large items, including waste from unit 
restorations, shall be moved by using the center elevator and the service 
entrance door at the rear of the building. If required, coordination with the 
Superintendent will allow for the elevator to be put on service and pads installed. 

25.6 In accordance with the Ontario Fire Code, household furniture, appliances, 
moving boxes and other items, shall not be left unattended in any hallways or 
lobby areas during a move. Doors shall not be propped open while unattended or 
for longer than is absolutely necessary to complete moves and deliveries safely 
through doorways. 

25.7 Realtor lock boxes shall not be attached to any common element. 

25.8 Realtor signs shall not be affixed or placed on any part of the inside or outside of 
the building or common elements. 

25.9 Realtor “Open Houses” for the purpose of sales promotion shall be coordinated 
with the Superintendent.   

26.  Noise 

26.1 No Owner or Tenant shall create nor permit the creation of, or continuation of, 
any noise or nuisance which, in the opinion of the Board, unreasonably disturbs 
the comfort or enjoyment of the property by other Owners or Tenants at any time.  

26.2 Owners and Tenants shall exercise reasonable care about making noise that 
may disturb the quiet enjoyment and comfort of other residents. This includes, 
but is not limited to, the use of musical instruments, radios, televisions and 
amplifiers. Furthermore, the use of power tools, hammers, drills, saws and similar 
items is restricted to the hours between 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday 
through Saturday. 

27.  Offensive Materials 

27.1 No Dangerous, Hazardous or Explosive Materials nor Flammable liquids, shall be 
accumulated in or around the building in such quantity or location as to create a 
fire hazard, and they shall be kept in a manner, and in containers conforming to 
the Ontario Fire Protection and Prevention Act. The storage of such items shall 
be identified to the Board through the Superintendent.  

28.  Parking Spaces 

28.1 No motor vehicle, other than a private passenger automobile, motorcycle, station 
wagon, or one-half ton pick-up truck, shall be parked on any part of the property 
(including any part thereof of which any Owner may have the exclusive use), and 
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no motor vehicle shall be parked or driven on any part of the property other than 
on a driveway or parking space. 

28.2 No substantial repairs or oil changes to motor vehicles are to be carried out on 
the property. 

28.3 Designated Parking Spaces are for the parking of a single motor vehicle. 
However, any Owners or Tenants who are parking two motor vehicles (in a 
particular parking unit) as at the date of this Rule are “grandfathered” and are 
accordingly permitted to continue doing so as long as the particular Owner or 
Tenant continues to own or occupy the particular parking unit.    

28.4 Designated Parking Spaces are not to be used for storage of tires, containers, 
signs, boxes or furniture. Items improperly stored in parking spaces will be 
removed, tagged and placed into safekeeping for a period of four (4) weeks. If 
not picked up by the Owner, the items will be disposed of. All storage, disposal 
and administrative costs for said items will be the responsibility of the Owner.  
Only one small personal shopping cart may occupy a parking space.  Large carts 
(such as grocery store shopping carts) are not allowed in a parking space.  

28.5 The designated user of a parking space shall keep the space clean and free of 
materials or conditions likely to cause a nuisance, hazard, property damage or 
any risk of fire.  

28.6 Parking spaces may be rented or sublet only to residents of units of the 
condominium. The condominium corporation and Superintendent must be 
advised of the name and license plate number of the user of the parking space. 
Unidentified cars may be ticketed and towed at the expense of the owner of the 
car. 

28.7 Only road-worthy, plated and insured motor vehicles shall be kept on the 
property. Any vehicles deemed to be abandoned or unsightly by the Board are 
not permitted on the property. Any vehicles on the property must be in a proper 
state of repair and in proper operating condition.  Without limiting the foregoing, 
vehicles must not leak oil or other fluids. 

28.8 Trailers shall be parked only in the owner’s designated parking spot for the 
purpose of loading or unloading, and for a period not to exceed 48 hours during a 
seven (7) day period. 

 

29.  Pests 

29.1 For the purposes of this Rule, “pest” means any unwanted animal, and includes 
bed bugs, cockroaches, mice, squirrels and other vermin.  
 

29.2 If an owner or occupant discovers pests in the unit, the Owner/Tenant shall 
immediately advise the Corporation so that the Corporation can take the 
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necessary steps to remove and/or exterminate the pest, and thereby prevent the 
pest from multiplying and or traveling to other units or to the common elements.  
 

29.3 Where the removal and/or extermination of the pest is deemed to be part of the 
maintenance of the unit, falling within the responsibilities of the owner, the Owner 
may be responsible for the cost of the said removal and/or extermination; and the 
cost may therefore be charged back to the Owner by the Corporation.   
 

30.  Pets 

30.1 For the purposes of this Rule, “pet” means an animal which may be kept in a 
residence under the terms of the applicable By-Laws of the municipality. 

30.2 No animal, livestock or fowl other than a pet shall be kept in any unit or on the 
common elements. All pets must be licensed, if required by municipal By-Law or 
other Statute or Regulation. 

30.3 No pet that is deemed by the Board, in its absolute discretion, to be a nuisance 
shall be kept by any person in any unit or in any other part of the property. Any 
person who keeps such a pet on the property, or any part thereof, or who is 
otherwise determined by the Board to be in violation of these Rules shall, within 
two (2) weeks of receipt of written notice from the Board requesting the removal 
of such pet, permanently remove such pet from the property. 

30.4 No pet shall be allowed outside a unit unless it is in the custody and care of a 
responsible person and carried or on a leash of not more than 1.5 meters in 
length 

30.5 No pet is permitted in the gym, party room or on the roof top patio. 

30.6 All pet droppings on common elements are to be promptly removed by the pet 
Owner. The pet Owner is responsible for ensuring that the municipal “stoop and 
scoop” By-Law is respected. 

30.7 Balconies or patios shall not be used as areas for litter boxes, dog runs or 
exercise areas for the pet. 

30.8 Pets are not to be left unattended on the balcony or patio.  

30.9 No more than a total of two pets are permitted in any unit. 

30.10 Owners are responsible for all damage caused to the property by their pet(s). All 
costs incurred by the Corporation to rectify any such damage shall be collectible 
in accordance with Rule 1.1. 

31.  Rooftop Patio 

31.1 It is prohibited for anyone to be outside the fenced area of the roof top patio. 

31.2 The roof top patio is a no smoking area. 
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32.  Selling Agent 

Owners shall ensure that their Selling Agents comply with the following: 

32.1 No “Selling Agent” shall install a lock box on any part of the common elements. 
Any lock box installed or left on any part of the common elements may be 
removed by the  Corporation at the expense of the “Selling Agent”. 

32.2 No “Selling Agent” signs (For Sale or For Rent) shall be posted or placed on the 
common elements. 

32.3 Realtors are required to meet the visitors to an open house and escort them to 
the main entrance when finished. 

33.  Sidewalks 

33.1 The sidewalks, passageways, walkways and driveways used in common by the 
Owners and Tenants shall not be obstructed by any of the Owners or Tenants or 
their personal effects or used by them for any purpose other than for ingress and 
egress to and from their respective units or parking areas. 

34.  Signage 

34.1 No sign, advertisement, notice or illumination of any kind shall be inscribed, 
painted, affixed or placed on any part of the inside or outside of the building or 
common elements without the prior written consent of the Board. 

35.  Smoke Detectors and Door Closers 

35.1 Applicable codes require that smoke alarms/detectors be installed and 
maintained in dwellings and that there are functioning closers for dwelling entry 
doors. In our condominium, the smoke alarms and door closers are part of the 
units, and accordingly must be maintained and repaired by the unit Owners. 

35.2 The Corporation shall conduct annual inspections of the smoke alarms and door 
closers in order to confirm that Owners are fulfilling their repair and maintenance 
obligations described above. During or following these inspections, the 
Corporation shall make any necessary repairs to, or replacements of, smoke 
alarms and/or door closers. In such cases, each Owner shall be deemed to have 
consented to have repairs done to his or her smoke alarm(s) or door closer(s) by 
the Corporation and the cost of such repairs shall be added to the Owner's 
contribution towards common expenses. 

35.3 The Corporation or any person authorized by the Corporation may enter any unit, 
upon reasonable notice, in order to perform the objects and duties of the 
Corporation described in this Rule pursuant to the Condominium Act, 1998 
(Ontario) and Article 3.2 of the Declaration. Owners shall not refuse such entry. If 
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an Owner does refuse such entry, the Owner shall be entirely and exclusively 
responsible for any losses, costs, damages or claims that may result. 

36.  Smoke and Odours 

36.1 All Owners shall ensure that smoke and odours generated in their units, whether 
through smoking, cooking, or otherwise, are not excessive and are reasonably 
contained within the unit so that smoke and/or odours do not migrate to the 
common elements or to other units (thereby causing discomfort to other residents 
of the building). Owners shall make reasonable use of exhaust fans in order to 
avoid such migration of smoke and odours. If necessary, Owners shall acquire 
and operate air filters or purifiers in their units in order to avoid such migration of 
smoke and/or odours from their units. 

37.  Smoking/Vaping Including Marijuana  

37.1 For the purpose of this section, smoking shall be defined as inhaling, breathing, 
carrying, or possession of any lighted cigarette, cigar, pipe, other product 
containing any amount of tobacco, cannabis or other smoke producing 
substance, or any other similar heated or lit product, and includes vaping with 
electronic cigarettes or any other activities that create smoke.  

37.2 Smoking is not permitted in any of the interior or exterior common elements  of 
the Corporation's property including the party and exercise rooms, lobbies, 
hallways, elevators, stair wells, garage and roof top patio area. 

37.3 Smoking is NOT permitted on exclusive use unit patios/terraces or balconies.  
Smoking is permitted within units but must be in compliance with Rule 36.  

38.  Soliciting on the Premises 

38.1 Soliciting is not permitted on any part of the common elements. 

39.  Storage Lockers 

39.1 No combustible or flammable materials shall be accumulated in any storage 
locker in such quantity, or in containers that do not conform to the OFPPA, as to 
create a fire hazard. No liquid gas, propane, explosives, firearms, ammunition, 
and other dangerous or hazardous materials, and provisions of such, shall be 
kept in any storage locker. 

39.2 No boxes, personal property or other items shall be placed on top of the 
individual storage lockers. 
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40.  Television Antennae 

40.1 No antenna, cable, aerial, tower or similar structure (including a satellite dish) 
and appurtenances thereto shall be erected on or fastened to any unit or on to 
any portion of the common elements, except with the written consent of the 
Board.   

41.  Trespass 

41.1 The condominium property is private property. Only Owners, tenants and their 
families and invitees are permitted on the property. 

41.2 Where any non-resident conducts any activity on the property which is prohibited 
by the Act, or the Corporation's Declaration, By-Laws or Rules, this shall be 
considered a trespass for the purposes of the Trespass to Property Act. 

42.  Visitor Parking 

42.1 Owners are responsible for ensuring that their visitors park in the designated 
Visitor Parking spaces. 

42.2 Owners are responsible for any parking violations by visitors to their unit. 

42.3 Vehicles parked in a Visitor Parking space must clearly display, at all times, a 
Condominium Board issued Visitor Parking Pass. Only one Visitor Pass will be 
issued for each condominium unit. The Superintendent may provide additional 
passes to an owner/resident for a single event as long as it does not coincide 
with a National or Provincial holiday when many owners/residents may require a 
visitor space.  On such days, the spaces will be used on a first come/first served 
basis 

42.4 Visitors wishing to park for a period of time exceeding three (3) days must 
register their vehicle with the Superintendent. 

42.5 Visitor vehicles not displaying a Sussex Square Visitor Parking Pass may be 
ticketed and may be towed in accordance with the City of Ottawa By-Law 2003-
530. 

42.6 Visitor parking may not be used by residents of the property unless special 
authorization has been obtained from the Board. 

43.  Water and Plumbing 

43.1 The water closets, toilets, sinks, bathtubs, drains and other water fixtures and 
apparatus shall not be used for purposes other than those for which they are 
constructed, and no sweepings, garbage, rubbish, rags, ashes or other 
inappropriate substances shall be thrown therein. Any damage resulting to them 
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from misuse or from unusual or unreasonable use shall be borne by the Owner 
who caused such damage. 

43.2 Water shall not be left running unless in actual use. Owners shall take all 
reasonable measures to conserve water. 

44.  Window Coverings 

44.1 Flags, blankets, towels, newspapers, decorative posters or similar materials shall 
not be used as window coverings. 

45.  Work in Unit  

45.1 Article 3.1(d) of the Declaration states as follows: 

“No boundary wall, load-bearing partition wall, floor, door or window, toilet, bath 
tub, wash basin, sink, heating, plumbing or electrical installation contained in or 
forming part of a residential unit shall be installed, removed, extended or 
otherwise altered without the prior written consent of the Corporation, provided 
however, that the provisions of this sub paragraph shall not require any owner to 
obtain the consent of the Corporation for the purpose of painting or decorating, 
including the alteration of the surface on any wall, floor or ceiling which is within 
any unit.” 

When providing written consent pursuant to the above provision, the Corporation 
may impose such terms or conditions as the Board considers appropriate in each 
case.  However the following condition shall apply in every case: 

Any work, which requires the consent of the corporation as described in Article 
3.1 (d) of the declaration, shall be carried out only by properly qualified and 
licensed contractors or trades persons who have adequate liability insurance to 
cover any damage which they may cause.  Upon request, the Owner shall 
provide the Corporation written proof reasonably satisfactory to the Board, that 
the contractor or trades person meets these requirements.  

45.2 Any structural, plumbing or electrical work planned in the unit shall first be 
presented to the Property Manager who will decide if the work is (major) 
significant enough in scope to require the written consent of the Board prior to 
work beginning, or if the work can proceed without written consent from the 
Board, with properly qualified, licensed, and insured contractors or tradespersons 
as required. If, for any reason, the Property Manager decides the work is 
significant enough in scope, the owner will be advised to obtain written consent 
from the Board before any work can begin. Written consent from the Board may 
be obtained by providing the board written proof of the scope of the work, and the 
qualifications and adequate liability insurance the licensed contractors or 
tradespersons have in order to cover any event of damage caused by them 
during the course of the work.  



3 September 2019 
 
Dear Owners: 
 
 RE: Letter from Ian Carpenter 
 
The attached letter was received from an Owner with the request that it be put on the AGM 
Agenda.  The Board has not had time to discuss the suggestions or to review the potential costs 
of these.   The topic will be open for a brief discussion at the AGM and the Board will accept 
input in writing from Owners prior to the meeting.  No voting will take place.  Following Owner 
input, the Board will review the recommendations and assess costs with the Property 
Management Firm. 
 
 
The Board 
  



 
 
Ian Carpenter 
Off-site Owner Unit 326 

 
Sussex Square Board 
And Fellow Owners 
August 29th, 2019 

Dear Board Members and Fellow Owners 

As an owner in Sussex Square, past Board member and past owner of a commercial property here in 
Ottawa, I have maintained a keen interest in how Sussex Square is being managed. I would like to 
express my gratitude to the current Board members for undertaking an overwhelming amount of work 
under very difficult circumstances. It is out of my sense of a real appreciation for what is involved that I 
would like to make a few suggestions for future Boards as you/they grapple with all that goes into 
making sure our rather large investments maintain an optimal value and provide an enjoyable place to 
live. 

1. Board Membership 

During the past few years, our Corporation has witnessed an unprecedented turnover of Auditors, 
Property Managers, Presidents and Board members who have resigned for various reasons, affecting the 
management quality of our Corporation, causing a loss of continuity in management protocols and 
history. The Ontario Condo Act has clearly identified as a priority the importance of having staggered 
Board terms, to ensure that there are always Board members with experience on the Board who have 
hopefully benefitted from excellent mentors resulting in long term management stability.  

Our property is worth over 43 million dollars. Our Operating Budget and Reserve Fund is over $500K. 

Management of our affairs requires far more skills and knowledge than what is required to maintain and 
manage a single home. The legal qualifications for board members do not require that they have any 
competence or qualifications in Condominium management or technical skills related to maintenance 
and repair of a major building.  

To remedy this situation, I strongly suggest that our Board of five members be made up of 4 volunteer 
owners with staggered terms of office plus one paid professional (engineer or architect with long term 
experience in the building construction field) who would be appointed by the Board and would 
participate in board meetings once a month. 

 This would provide our Board with continued competent professional technical advice, especially at a 
time when major repairs and replacement of common elements are coming up in our Reserve Fund. This 
would help our corporation to prepare adequately for these works by following best practices for 
identifying the work, hiring the right professionals to prepare the specifications, the right contractors to 
supervise the work appropriately and report to the owners. Experience has shown that we cannot rely 
on Property Managers to have the technical professional knowledge and experience for these major 
works nor for ensuring us of long-term continuity of service. 



This would give the owners the confidence, notwithstanding who has been elected to the board, that 
there will always be a professional at the table who has the technical and historical knowledge of what 
has been done to our property.  

By ensuring costly errors are not made, the fee for this professional service would be a remarkably good 
investment for owners. 

2. Board/Special meetings/Requisitioned and AGM meeting minutes. 

We need far more comprehensive meeting minutes to be taken and then made available to all owners. 
if we are to maintain an accurate history of how the building has been managed the minutes must be 
comprehensive The Corporation’s decisions do, after all, affect every owner and serve to inform us as 
we choose new Board members when vacancies arise. 

There are professionals who specialize in taking minutes and it would be worth looking into hiring such a 
person to attend the monthly Board meetings· Minutes must also be posted in a timely manner after 
approval by the Board, say within 5 days of such approval. It must be noted that approval of minutes by 
email to the board members is not acceptable because, as our Lawyer has explained in one of his blogs, 
email is essentially considered to be a discussion platform and cannot be considered a ‘meeting’. 

With regard to minutes from the AGM, we should not wait one year to read these minutes. The draft 
version should be made available on the Property Manager’s web site within one month, and owners 
who were present at the meeting should be invited to comment before the final draft is sent in the 
following year’s AGM package. 

3. Elections 

At many of the AGM’s we have been struggling year after year to obtain a quorum. By way of 
encouraging more involvement of resident and non-resident owners, who are often unable to attend, I 
suggest the Corporation consider offering electronic voting, which is now allowed under the new Condo 
Act.  A new by-law would be required and could be drafted by our corporation lawyer. 

A special meeting of owners should be called to discuss and vote on such an amendment. 

 I look forward to attending the AGM and asked that my letter be included in the handout package sent 
to owners in advance of the meeting. I would also ask that my letter be added to the agenda to allow for 
discussion of my ideas. Particularly the suggestion of having a professional engineer /architect on the 
board and the concept of allowing electronic voting. 

Yours truly, 

 

Dr Ian Carpenter 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

General comments on what I feel would help all boards operate efficiently, productively and with 
limited stress. 

1.  The property manager for our building must have at least six years’ experience after 
certification.  

2. Have a highly efficient information system to keep all owners informed on a regular basis of 
what is happening at 1. The corporate level and 

         2. The condominiums social activities and news updates. 
3. Seek the best legal and accounting advice available. 
4. Hire the best engineering company to manage our Reserve Fund projections. 
5. Obtain the best investment advice for the Reserve Fund. 
6. The Board should seek the advice of appropriate experienced professionals whenever making 

decisions on issues when they do not have the qualifications and experience. 
   This is an ethical requirement under the new Condominium Act 

7. Ensure we have the highest quality insurance. 
8. Have access to comprehensive past minutes and contracts. 
9. Maintain an updated record of all past annual line Item expenses for analysis and budgeting 
9.  Maintain an updated record of all past annual consumption records for Hydro, Gas and Water      

for analysis 
10. Provide the best Preventative Maintenance Program for: water, fire, security and mechanical 

systems including elevators – and complete bi-annual unit inspections are carried out. 
11. Follow and update the monthly Management Action Schedule 
12. Perform annual walk around building inspections 
13. Insist that the Sussex Square Standard Approval form for owners planning to have electrical and 

plumbing work in their units is used and signed off. 
14. Establish ad hoc groups of volunteer owners to assist/advise the Board in the following areas: 

Finance, Landscaping and Communications Committees. None of these members would have 
any legal responsibility.  

15. Encourage and Financially support the Social Committee and encourage clubs which owners 
may establish such as Book Club – Bridge Club – Travel Club- Wine Club. as none of these are a 
Corporate responsibility. 

16. Maintain the highest ethical standards in contracting, employee relations and communications.  

 

Why these recommendations. 
  They will be effective by stimulating an evidence-based decision-making process, which will result in saving 

our Corporation money.  
This will also certainly help to make the responsibilities and decisions of our volunteer Board members less 

stressful and their job more enjoyable. 
 



 
 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
Condominium Act, 1998  
 
Qualifications 
29 (1) No person shall be a director if, 

(a) the person is not an individual; 
(b) the person is under 18 years of age; 
(c) the person has the status of bankrupt; 
(d) the person has been found, under the Substitute Decisions Act, 1992 or the Mental               
Health Act, to be incapable of managing property; 
(e) subject to the regulations, the person has been found to be incapable by any               
court in Canada or elsewhere; or 
(f) the person has not complied with the prescribed disclosure obligations within            
the prescribed time. 2015, c. 28, Sched. 1, s. 27. 

Disqualification 
(2) A person immediately ceases to be a director if, 

(a) the person has the status of bankrupt; 
(b) the person has been found, under the Substitute Decisions Act, 1992 or the Mental               
Health Act, to be incapable of managing property; 
(c) subject to the regulations, the person has been found to be incapable by any               
court in Canada or elsewhere; 
(d) a certificate of lien has been registered under subsection 85 (2) against a unit               
owned by the person and the person does not obtain a discharge of the lien under                
subsection 85 (7) within 90 days of the registration of the certificate of lien; 
(e) the person has not completed the prescribed training within the prescribed time;             
or 
(f) the person has not complied with the prescribed disclosure obligations within            
the prescribed time. 2015, c. 28, Sched. 1, s. 27. 

Consent  
30 (1) A person shall not be elected or appointed as a director unless the person                
consents. 1998, c. 19, s. 30 (1). 
Deemed consent  
(2) A person shall be deemed to consent if the person is present at the meeting when                 
elected or appointed and does not refuse to act as a director. 1998, c. 19, s. 30 (2). 
Written consent 
(3) A person who is not present at the meeting may be elected or appointed if the                 
person consents in writing to act as director before the meeting or within 10 days after                
the meeting. 1998, c. 19, s. 30 (3). 
Non-compliance 
(4) The election or appointment of a person as director contrary to this section is               
ineffective. 1998, c. 19, s. 30 (4). 
Term 
31 (1) Except in the case of directors appointed to the first board of directors under                
subsection 42 (1), a director is elected for a term of three years or such lesser period                 
as the by-laws may provide. 1998, c. 19, s. 31 (1).  



 
 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  
O. Reg. 48/01: GENERAL 
 
Disclosure Obligations 
11.6 (1) For the purpose of clause 29 (1) (f) of the Act, a person shall provide the                  
following statements and information in accordance with this section: 

1. If the person mentioned in that clause is a party to any legal action to which the                  
corporation is a party, a statement of that fact and a brief general description of the                
action. 
2. If the spouse, child or parent of the person, or the child or parent of the spouse of                   
the person, is a party to any legal action to which the corporation is a party, a                 
statement of that fact, the name of the spouse, child or parent and a brief general                
description of the action. 
3. If an occupier of a unit that the person or the person’s spouse owns or that the                  
person occupies with the occupier is a party to any legal action to which the               
corporation is a party, a statement of that fact, the name of the occupier and a brief                 
general description of the action. 
4. If the person has been convicted of an offence under the Act or under the                
regulations within the preceding 10 years, a statement of that fact and a brief              
general description of the offence. 
5. Subject to subsection (3), if the person has, directly or indirectly, an interest in a                
contract or transaction to which the corporation is a party, in a capacity other than               
as a purchaser, mortgagee, owner or occupier of a unit, a statement of that fact and a                 
statement of the nature and extent of the interest. 
6. Subject to subsection (3), if the person has, directly or indirectly, an interest in a                
contract or transaction to which the declarant or declarant affiliate is a party, in a               
capacity other than as a purchaser, mortgagee, owner or occupier of a unit, a              
statement of that fact and a statement of the nature and extent of the interest. 
7. If the person is an owner in the corporation and if the contributions to the                
common expenses payable for the person’s unit are in arrears for 60 days or more, a                
statement of that fact. 
8. If the person is not an owner of a unit in the corporation, a statement of that fact. 
9. If the person is not an occupier of a unit in the corporation, a statement of that                  
fact. 
10. All other information that a by-law of the corporation requires the person to              
disclose. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 

(2) In paragraphs 2 and 3 of subsection (1), “spouse” means, 
(a) a spouse as defined in section 1 of the Family Law Act, or 
(b) either of two persons who live together in a conjugal relationship outside             
marriage. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 

(3) Paragraphs 5 and 6 of subsection (1) do not apply to a contract or transaction                
unless both it and the person’s interest in it are material. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 
(4) The statements and information that subsection (1) requires the person to provide             
shall be current as of the time the person provides them. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 



 
 

(5) If the person provides notice to the board as described in subsection 28 (2) of the                 
Act or subclause 11.2 (2) (c) (ii) of this Regulation with respect to a meeting of owners                 
described in subsection (6), the person shall provide the statements and information            
required by subsection (1) to the board in writing at the time of providing the notice.                
O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 
(6) The meeting of owners mentioned in subsection (5) or (7) is a meeting that is held                 
40 days or more after the day section 27 of Schedule 1 to the Protecting Condominium                
Owners Act, 2015 comes into force and for which a notice of meeting has not already                
been sent before that day. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 
(7) If the person does not provide notice to the board as described in subsection 28 (2)                 
of the Act or subclause 11.2 (2) (c) (ii) of this Regulation but is a candidate in the                  
election of one or more directors at a meeting of owners described in subsection (6),               
the person shall provide the statements and information required by subsection (1) to             
the corporation at the meeting. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 
(8) For the purpose of subsection (7), the person shall provide the statements and              
information, 

(a) orally or in writing if the person is present at the meeting; or 
(b) in writing if the person is not present at the meeting. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 

(9) If the person is a person appointed to the board as described in subsection 34 (2)                 
of the Act, the person shall provide the statements and information required by             
subsection (1) of this section to the board, 

(a) at any time before being so appointed, unless the corporation has passed a              
by-law described in clause (b); or 
(b) within such other period of time that is set out in a by-law of the corporation and                  
that is before the appointment. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 

(10) The person shall provide the statements and information, 
(a) orally or in writing if the person provides them at a time at the meeting when the                  
person is appointed to the board that is before the appointment; or 
(b) in writing if, 
(i) the person provides the statements and information before the meeting at which             
the person is appointed to the board, or 
(ii) a by-law of the corporation requires the person to provide the statements and              
information in writing. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 

(11) If this section requires a person to provide the statements and information             
required by subsection (1) in writing, the signature of the person shall be included in               
the statements and shall accompany the information. O. Reg. 180/17, s. 6. 
 



 Yvette Theriault 406-205 Bolton St., Ottawa, ON, K1N1K7 

I am submitting my candidacy  for a 3 year term position as Board member for our building.

My professional career as a psychologist has given me many opportunities to provide clinical 
and consultative services to individuals and organisations in the areas of mental health, physical 
rehabilitation and criminal justice which I currently continue. I have served on professional boards as 
member, president and CEO provincially and nationally. 

In regards to personal interests I do photography and watercolor painting.  I have been invited 
to be part of the Davesté Vineyard Artists and in-house photographer, North Carolina and have just 
recently completed a photoshoot for the USA Curling Team Sinclair. I volunteer as a 
photographer/videographer around Ottawa for events such as the Great India Festival of Ottawa. I am a 
keen golfer. 

Having lived in this building since 2011 and expecting to remain here for the foreseeable future 
it is important that we have collective efforts to make our social and physical environment a very 
desirable place to live. 

My participation on the Board since November 2018 has reinforced my view that there is a 
learning curve on being a Board member. This leads me to submit my candidacy for a 3 year term.  Since 
living here my observation has been that Board members devote many hours to Board related business. 
This perception has proven to be correct. It is important that we (collectively) keep ourselves informed 
and knowledgeable about our requirements to maintain, repair and operate the building in which we 
are all owners.  To this endeavour I offer my time to participate as a Board member.



  

 
 
 
 
 

Margaret VanDongen 
 
 
 

My husband and I have lived at Sussex Square since 2012.  We rented for the first year to 
make sure that condo living was for us and discovered that we really liked this lifestyle and 
our community of neighbours. We purchased our unit in 2013.   
 
I am retired having spent over 35 years working in a range of management activities.  My 
primary focus was in human resources.  I worked with the National Research Council for 19 
years and then 7 years with the International Development Research Council.  For the last 
ten years of my career I worked as an independent consultant.  My clients included over 20 
different government departments and agencies.  
 
Throughout the years I have volunteered extensively with various organizations – church 
groups, school groups and community groups.  I also did volunteer catering for a number of 
organizations.  At Sussex Square, I was a member of the Board from 2013 to 2016 and 
again during 2018/19.  Currently I am serving as Secretary and President of the Board.   I 
have also worked on the landscape committee and the social committee.   I volunteer at the 
Shepherds of Good Hope and I serve on the Board of the Lawn Bowling Club in our Florida 
town. 
 
I would be pleased to continue serving the residents of Sussex Square as a Board member.  
I feel it is important for us to manage the corporation with sound financial strategies and with 
open and inclusive communication with the owners.  For many of us this is the largest 
investment we will ever make and it is important that it is managed in a manner that 
maintains our market value while providing a pleasant place to live.   I count many of my 
neighbours as friends and enjoy the vibrant atmosphere at Sussex Square.  
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